go into business or government offices and demand salaries in
excess of those paid college graduates. It was found thar with the
return of peace this situation increases enrollment so that Blooms-
burg's business enrollment was highest among Pennsylvania
Teachers Colleges.

4, The expansion of the offerings of State Teachers Colleges,
both in the field of Teacher Education and in other fields, is re-
ceiving consideration. Whatever may be the ourcome, the year
1946 brought an interesting experiment to the campus in the

“Farm Qut” program. Bloomsburg's parc in this plan terminated
in 1949 when the need for dormitory space for women elementary
education students forced the College to conclude remporarily its
form of a cooperative agreement with the Pennsylvania Stace
College under which the College accepted 76 Liberal Arts fresh-
men %m their first year of collegiare life. Twenty-two other Col-
leges and collegiate institutions were engaged in the Freshman
part of the agreement. Nearly 250 Penn State freshmen were
accepted during the three years the cooperative agreement was
in effect.

ORGANIZATION OF THE COLLEGE

W. B. SUTLIFF

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES

The story of the work, self-sacrifice, and devortion to the cause
of establishing and maintaining an institution of learning for the
youth of Bloomsburg and vicinity, should be told by one more
capable of depicting the life and times of that era, than is the
present writer.

Bear in mind thar public high schools were unknown in this
section. It was a period when private enterprise in Pennsylvania,
at least in the rural diserices, was necessary to even think of offer-
ing comparable educational advantages to that of the great pre-
paratory schools of New England.

Realizing the fact that many parents were financially unable to
send their sons and daughters to such schools and being assured
of the fact thar young men and women of great potential capa-
bilities were without adequate educarional opportunities, rormi-
nent citizens early began a movement to provide a school for ad-
vanced work which the public schools did not offer.

The first available record of a meeting of the Trustees is that
of May 2, 1866. This, however, is not the beginning of the project.
It is a matter of record that as early as 1856, D. J. Waller, 5r., had
written a charter for, and a corporation was legally formed, to
sell stock, elect trustees, and carry on the business of a school to
be known as the Bloomsburg Literary Institute,

The first available record states thac D. J. Waller, Sr., was
elected President and I, W. Harrman, Secretary. Other members
were Wm, Snyder, J. K. Grotz, and L. B. Rupert.

Vacancies caused by the resignation of E, C. Barton, Wm. Good-
rich, Joseph Sharpless, and Wm. Robinson were filled by the
election of John G. Freeze, R. F. Clark, Wm. Neal and Conrad
Bittenbender,

The sale of 1000 shares of stock at $20 per share was author-
ized. The June report shows that 596 shares had been sold, real-
izing $11,920 cash. Remember that was a non-profit corporation
and that any hope of the return of the capital investment was non-
existent. The years which followed were years of seeking funds,
selling stock and securing loans,

A gleam of light came when, in 1866, the State agreed to share
the burden to a slight degree, by the promise of an annual appro-
priation in return for an agreement to add to the curriculum of
the Literary Institute, certain prescribed courses and facilities for
the education and training of prospective teachers for the public
schools of Pennsylvania.

The firse requirement of the State was the erection of a suitable
dormitory to house and board prospective students. A vigorous
campaign was at once organized by the Trustees to sell stock in
the corporation. A bond issue of $30,000 at 6% was floated. The
Campus was enlarged by the purchase of land and the dormitory
was erected on the site of Waller Hall.

The first State appropriation of $10,000 was received in July,
1870. A small building to be used as a "Model School” was built
about where the flag pole now stands. This was somerimes re-
ferred to as "Hemlock Hall”

The disastrous fire of 1875 which completely destroyed the dor-
mirory was followed by a demonstration of courage and belief in
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the furure of the Institution, by the Trustees and the faculty,

which deserves nortice.

The Trustees called a public meeting in the Court House, set
farth their plans and reached a decision to rebuild at once.

The faculty submitted an agreement, signed by each teacher w0
the effect:

1. That the Trustees provide a house or room for each member
of the faculty, to be paid for from the current funds received
by the operation of the school.

2. All agreed to accept in money, the net income of the School
over and above the current expenses of the operation of the
School, to be divided among the reachers in the ratio of their
former salaries.

The students were provided with homes in town, but the rent
of houses for the faculty, maintenance of Carver Hall, etc, had ro
be paid as well as other current expenses. No record can be found
as to how the teachers fared.

On April 26, the completed building was opened for inspection.
On July 6, the Trustees received a special State appropriation of
$30,000 and executed a mortgage for that amount to the Srate.

As an illustration of the time, the question of providing an
improved system of lighting Institute Hall (now Carver Hall)
was discussed. Lighting by gas was desired. No funds were avail-
able. C. W. Miller, one of the Trustees volunteered o pay for the
necessary pipes and for proper installations. Needless to say, the
offer was accepted.

The Board at that time consisted of the following:

On the part of the Stockholders: On the pare of the State:

John Wolf C. W. Miller
C. B. Brockway D. A. Beckley
E. B Drake

David Lowenberg

Troubles for Trustee were not all financial. In the spring of 1877,
certain charges were broughe against the Principal, Dr. Griswold.
After a careful and painstaking investigation, believing the charges
to be fully substantiated, the Principal was dismissed and a new
Principal was elected. Dr. Griswold was ordered to vacate his
living quarters, but refused to do so and did not leave until late
in August.

An idea of prevailing wages may be gathered from a report
dated August, 1877. “The Commirtee on heat reported the resig-
nation of the ‘engineer’ and recommended the hiring of Luther
Benchoff to replace him at a salary of $25 per month.”

September 25, 1878. A low point seems to have been reached
on this date. In some manner certain creditors had obtained a
writ and a sheriff's sale was imminent. The minutes read: "The
question of whar action the Board should rake in reference to the
sheriff's sale of the personal property of the Normal School, under
the execution of McKelvey, Rollins and Homer and Dr. Griswold,
which sale is advertised for tomorrow at ten o'clock, was then duly
considered by the Board.” A committee of three was appointed
to confer with the Sheriff, asking a postponement to Oc 15.
The Sheriff consented. The supposition is that a serclement was
made with the creditors for we hear no more about a sheriff's sale.



Fire escapes were placed on the cast side of the dormitory in
1881.

On May 22, 1883, the sum of $1,000 was appropriated as a
contribution toward a system of sewerage for the Town. This was
made at the suggestion of the Town Council. Later, a committee
was appointed to make arrangements with the Town Council to
install the best possible system of sewerage for the School ar a
cost of not more than $1,500.

In June, 1885, Dr. Waller called the atcention of the Trustees
to the crowded conditions of the School and to the necessity of
an additional building,.

In October, 1885, bids were received to erect the building now
known as Moetling Hall. The bid of Charles Fenez to erect a
building in accordance with the specifications of the archivect
as to materials, erc, for $13,485 was accepted. The contractor
agreed to complete the building by July, 1886

The building contained many small class rooms which accom-
modated not more than 5 or 6 children, the student teacher and
an observer. It never seemed to occur to the faculty or Trustees thar
student teaching in a regular classroom under normal conditions
would have been a better plan. However, the plan for many small
classes seemed to be the usual one. We were spared one fearure
which I noticed in visiting other Normal Schools. A number of
the schools used the same plan of tiny rooms bur had a glass
covered peep hole cut in cach door for stealthy observarion,

The building, then called the Model School Building, was con-
necred with the steam boilers under Carver Hall and connections
were extended to Penn Streer and connected with the main of the
Town Heating Company lines. The Model School Building was
connected with Carver Hall by a bridge so thar passage could be
made from one building to the ather withour going out of doors.

The new building had several good classrooms for regular
classes of Normal School students. At the end of each classroom
was a raised plarform for the instructor’s desk and chair. Thus the
Instructor was lplnced upon a pedestal physically whether his place
in the minds of the students was correspondingly high or not.

In the minutes of August, 1888, mention is made of the pur-
chase of a rug for the room of Professor Chapin. This recalls an
interesting phase of the school life, ar least as E: as the boys were
concerned. Professor Chapin had spent a year or two as a Cadert ar
West Point. Why he lefr, "deponent saith not.” Abour 60 or 70
rifles were secured from the Armory ar Harrisburg. We had no
Gym until aboue 1893, A military company of boys was formed.
Marching and the Manual of Arms were aught in West Poin
style, we believed. This was our physical education course. Noth-
ing less than a broken leg or arm, properly certified, was consid-
ered a valid absence from the drills,

In the December meeting of 1889, Dr. Waller reported to the
Trustees that the State desired the establishment of a Manual
Training Course. A committee was appointed to try to secure
funds from the State “for the establishment of a system of Manual
Training.” The course materialized in che fall of 1890,

In the spring of 1889, a large number of students obtained
rooms in town as the dormitory was overcrowded. The Trustees
were already considering plans for the erection of a dormicory
o occupy the space between Waller Hall and the new training
school Iililding. It was not erecred until Dr. Welsh became Prin-
cipal.

On December 30, 1890, Dr. Welsh suggested to the Trustees
that the old "Chapel” be cut up into small rooms for the housing
of students.

This "Chapel” was a large room on second floor of Waller Hall,
directly above the dining room. It had been used for many years
for holding a Sunday morning and evening religious service for
those students and teachers who did not happen to attend the
services in town. Dr. Waller had always pru-.rinfec[ a service for the
“stay-at-homes.” The suggestion of Dr. Welsh was carried our and
the "Chapel” became only a memory,

"Hemlock Hall” was fitted up to “house the servants” who had
been living in the dormitory. This referred to the women who
worked in the kirchen, dining room, and general cleaning, e,
about the dormirory.

One of the grievances on the part of girl students of that day
was that the boys had the advantage of having their beds made
and room cleaned by some of these women. The theory seemed 1o
be that girl students would prefer 1o keep their own rooms clean
and tidy while safety first for the health and welfare of the com-
munity would be better served on the boys' side of the dormitory
by having a daily inspection and clean-up by employees of the
schoal,

About this time the fence around the front campus was removed
and the wrnsile is front of Carver Hall ceased to revolve. The erec-
tion of the dormirory, gymnasium and the completion of the ath-
letic field have been noted elsewhere.

The financial headaches of thar period will be dismissed with
the statement that grear credic is due the Trustees for their able
and untiring efforts 10 meet and solve the many problems of fi-
nancing the improvements which were necessary to promote the
growth and development of the School. It was still a semi-state
private corporation institution,

As a reminder the Trustees, in 1909, called attention to Article
8 of the Charter which stated: "No dividends shall at any time be
declared and distributed by the Board of Trustees out of the net
earnings or profits of the Corporation, bur shall be applied to the
erection, extension, addition, improvement or repair of buildings,
providing proper apparatus, furnirure, etc,, erc.”

The struggle o lower the indebtedness of the school was an
ever present problem. Commitiees were sent to Harrisburg 1o
plead for special appropriations. They did not always succeed in
their quest. The resources of the School, Real Estate, etc., were
listed as being $470,429.84. The liabilities, mortgages, stocks, bills
payable, erc,, ar $470,429.84,

Here is a partial list of the Trustees of thar period:

Wm. Neal M. U. Funk E. C. Wells John M. Clark
W. M. Reber C. W, Barkley 1. 5. Kerlm L E Waller

J. C. Brown A Z Schoch E. P. Drinker ohn Wolf
George Elwell rank P. Billmyer

In February, 1911, the Trustees decided to charge a student fee
of $2 ro be used as follows: Each student was ro receive for the
first term a ticket of admission to all foorhall : second term,
a ticket to lecture courses; third term, a ticked o baseball games.
Attendance ar basketball games required the purchase of a ticker.

As an example of the incessant financial problems confronting
the Trustees, the $50,000, 5%, bond issue on Science Hall came
due March 1, 1916. It is interesting to note thar both principal
and interest were payable in gold coin of the United States. No
funds were available. The School was negortiating with the State
for the sale of the school.

J. € Brown, a Trustee, was appointed attorney for the school.
A, Z. Schoch was President of the Board. These men arranged the
legal steps for refunding the bonds by a new issue. Amicable
arrangements were made. The new mortgage as security for the
1ssue was essentially the same as before, ie., coverage of Science
Hall and the plot oggmu nd, including the grove,

When the School was taken over by the Stare in 1916, a Starte
official advised the Trustees that, “They would have no authority
to issue bills, bonds or notes of any kind.” Debts for the necessary
running of the school were the limit of the Board's authoriry.

He therefore suggested that a $24,000 debt in the form of notes
about 1o fall due, should be funded into bonds, secured by a mort-
gage on the real estate of the School. This was done.

A deed of conve}'nnce as of May 2, 1916, to the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania of all personal and real estate pro of the
Bloomsburg Literary Instiure and State Normal School, having
been properly executed, was, by resolution of the Trustees, de-
livered 1o the proper State authorities and the School became in
actuality, a State Normal School.
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A letter from Exccutive Secretary, ], George Bechr, contained
the following appointments to the new board:

A Z Schoch Paul E. Wirt Charles W. Miller

James Brown M. G. Youngman A. Z Schoch, President
John M. Clark Boris Auten 1. €. Brown, Vice-President
L. E. McGinnis Benjamin Apple 1. M. Clark, Secretary

In July, 1917, the Trustees received the welcome news tha
$54,000 had been appropriated by the State to pay the mortgage.
In September, 1918, President Schoch announced that the State
had paid off the $24,000 bond issue and had also paid the Dillon
mortgage of $8,000. In pare payment of another mortgage, $22,-

000 had been paid. The Trustees must have felt that a Fairy God-
father had adopted them.

Inéunt, 1921, Dr. Fisher announced that the State appropria-
tion for the year would be $120,000, to be used for instruction
and operating expenses. Teachers' salaries began to assume re-
spectable proportions.

In November, 1925, Dr. Reimer reporred to the Trustees that
the student enrollment was 751, with 54 members of the faculty
and 16 cooperating teachers. The school showed a surplus of
$33,607 of assers over liabilities. The rate for board, room, and
laundry was $8 per week.

PRINCIPALS OF BLOOMSBURG NORMAL SCHOOL
AND LITERARY INSTITUTE

On June 26, 1866, at a meeting of the Board of Trustees of the
Bloomsburg Literary Institute, a motion was adopted directing
the Secretary of the Board "to inform Prof. Henry Carver of Bing-
hamton, New York, officially of his election as Principal of the
Bloomsburg Lirerary Institure.”

From certain circumstances connected with the location and
proposed building of whar is now "Carver Hall," it appears that
Prof. Carver was already on hand prepared to enter upon the job of
raising money, planning the building and taking a hand in select-
ing the location.

Dr. D. ]. Waller, Jr., used to tell of Prof. Carver's love for fine
horses. He owned a fine,well-marched team of driving horses and
thoroughly enjoyed showing their speed and high spirit wo the
community. The unique thing about his driving was the face thar
Prof. Carver had but one hand. Like the traditional pirate he had
an iron hook at the end of his arm and by having a special loop
on one of the lines he guided his spirited team up hill and down
dale and "took nobody's dust.”

He was an organizer as well as a promocer. During his adminis-
tration "Institute Hall” (now Carver Hall) was erecred, paid for
by a vigorous stock-selling campaign, a faculty was selected, swu-
dents enrolled and the Literary Institute became a going concern.

When the State decided to locate a Normal School on the site
of the Literary Institute, Henry Carver, having once before laid
aside his work as a reacher to contract for and erect the Literary
Institute Hall, now took over the job of planning and erecting
“a Dormitory capable of housing and boarding the Student body.”

It appears from the records of that period thac Prof. Carver
cu:ricdp out the plans and orders of the Trustees and became the
general manager of all acrivities of the school — boarding, mainte-
nance, selecting the faculty, applying for State Appropriations and
selling shares of stock in the School Corporation.

On July 1, 1870, Judge Elwell and John Funston were ap-
pointed as a Committee "to wait on Prof. Carver in regard to his
running the School.” Students were charged $4.50 per week for
board, room and laundry, and $1 per week wition. Prof. Carver
was authorized to hire a Mr. Burrows to “run the Boarding Hall,”
he to pay the Trustees 50 cents per week to decrease the indebted-
ness of the school.

A peculiar statement appears here in the minutes of the Trus-
tees. Prof, Carver evidently did not approve of the plan. He said,
“Let the Trustees rake the financial responsibility of the School
and pay me a salary. If you think it best to elect a Principal for
your School you are at liberty o say 'l have resigned because of
ill health'.”

On December 19, 1871, ar the suggestion of Superintendent of
Public Instruction Wickersham, Charles C. Barkley, Superin-
tendent of the Schools of Columbia County, was elected Principal.
A Mr. Millard agreed o "run the boarding department ar $3.50
per week, per person,”

Mr. Barkley soon asked to be relieved of his duries as Principal.
The Rev. John Hewitt was elected as Principal and was installed
on March 2, 1872, His annual salary was $800 per annum with
board and housing for himself and family and one servant.
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The Reverend evidently believed in discipline with a capital
"D". Resolutions began to appear in the Trustees’ Minutes. May
23, 1872, “No teacher shall grant 1o any student permission to
leave the grounds nor any other special privilege, but all such
applications must be made to the Principal.”

“Resolved thar the Principal be authorized to dispense with the
services of any member of the Faculty and change any member thereof
by filling his place; the men selected to be approved by the Board.”

“Resolved that proper information be procured and legal proceed-
ings instituted by the Board of Trustees for the arrest and conviction
of the Landlord of the Forks Hotel for selling and furnishing liquor
to minors and students of the Normal School.”

Mote: The Forks Hotel srill hlocked Main Streer, occupying the
space berween the present Town Hall and Housenick’s Garage.

By a resolution adopted June 8, 1872, the contract of Mr. Mil-
lard, Steward, was closed. The Principal was authorized “to hire
a man and woman to rake charge of the Boarding of Students,
together with the necessary servants, who shall be under the direc-
tion and control of the Principal and he, the Principal, shall have
general supervision of the Boarding and the Buildings and
Grounds.”

The next resolution dated June 8, 1872, is unique in assumption
of authoriry:

“Resolved that the Principal be suthorized to draw and have
printed a certificate of character and requirements with the degree of
B.S, and B.C, Bachelor of Science and Bachelor of Classics to be
granted to those students who shall graduare in the Scientific or Classi-
cal Departments of this School.”

On April 23, 1873, "The resignation of Rev, Hewitt, to take
effect ar the end of the presenr schoal year, was received and on
motion, accepted.” A resolution was adopted thanking Rev.
Hewirr for his able and efficient manner of handling the affairs
of the School.

On June 14, 1873, Dr. L. T. Griswold was elected Principal of
the School ar a salary of $§1800 per annum with a yearly deduc-
tion of $600 for board, rooms, and laundry for his family.

It was announced on June 12, 1873, that each Normal School in
the Commonwealth “shall execure and deliver to the Common-
wealth of Pennsylvania, a mortgage for the amount specified be-
fore receiving the $10,000 appropriation.” The mortgage shall be
upon all real estate and a like mortgage in the sum of $25,000 for
sums previously paid by the State, to this School,

The Trustees protested the ruling on this placing of an addi-
tional mortgage of $25,000 and the payment of interest thereon,
because "such moneys had never been looked upon as a debe but
rather as a contribution on the part of the State to insure the
success of the original design in the establishment of Normal
Schools.” "The notice thar a similar requirement is not made of
other Normal Schools.”

On August 22, 1873, Col. John G. Freeze submitted a letter
from ]. P. Wickersham, Superintendent of Public Instruction,
stating in part: "The Commission, in reference to a mortgage of
$25,000, will withdraw the condition.” They therefore asked for
but one mortgage of $10.000.

On March 24, 1874, the Trustees granted the use of a room
the Philologian Literary Society. This room occupied the space
now used as the office of the Dean of Instruction rogether with a



